1993

Mariamercedes Power v. Riverview Financial Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of the Utah Court of Appeals is conferred by Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(k) and by Order of the Supreme Court of Utah dated August 18, 1993 pouring-over this case.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

FIRST ISSUE - (POINT I):

1. Did the District Court err by hearing the defendant/appellee's Motion for Relief from Order either because no new facts were presented in support or because the motion was contrary to the "law of the case" doctrine (i.e., a District Court judge may not vacate the prior decision of another District Court judge)?

Standard of Review

Trial Judge David Young reviewed the determination of his predecessor, and determined, as a matter of law, that Judge Wilkinson's decision was incorrect. This exercise of appellate review is entitled to no deference. Harward v. Harward, 526 P.2d 1183 (Utah 1974).

SECOND ISSUE - (POINT II AND III):

2. Was summary dismissal of plaintiff/appellant's causes of action in error because employment policy statements and conduct, when considered in a light most favorable to Power, establish an implied-in-fact employment relationship whereby she

could only be terminated for cause, after disciplinary counseling, and an opportunity to correct deficiencies?

Standard of Review

Because summary judgment was granted as a matter of law, this Court may review the trial court's conclusions of law without according them any deference, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Appellant. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

Summary judgment is not appropriate where a genuine issue of material fact exists and where, on the basis of the facts in the record, reasonable minds could differ. Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613 (Utah 1982).

THIRD ISSUE - (POINT IV):

Did the trial court err in concluding that plaintiff/appellant's termination was part of a reduction in force and "when it became necessary to reduce employees, the plaintiff was let go for that reason alone" [March 18, 1993 Memorandum Decision, p. 5, R. at 984.] when that finding is inconsistent with competent evidence and when defendant/appellee failed to provide any documentation of a reduction in force in response to discovery requests by Power.

Because summary judgment was granted as a matter of law, this Court may review the trial court's conclusions of law without according them any deference, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Appellant. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Rules 56 and 60(b)(7), Utah Rules Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of Case.

Plaintiff and Appellant, Mariamercedes Power, was hired by Defendant and Appellee, Riverview Financial Corporation ("Riverview" a/k/a Mrs. Fields Cookies) on December 1, 1988. She was terminated after approximately 13 months of employment. Power brought an action against Riverview in the Third Judicial District Court for Summit County, State of Utah alleging that her termination violated an implied-in-fact agreement that she would only be terminated for cause.

Passages in Riverview's documents and explicit statements and actions by company executives created an implied-in-fact agreement that Power would not be terminated without cause and then only after remedial and disciplinary procedures had been followed. Power claims that she was terminated without cause, not as part of a reduction in force, as claimed by

Riverview. Power was given no warning of performance difficulties and no corrective instruction or opportunity to improve.

II. Course of Proceedings.

Significantly, this case is pending in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Summit County. As such, it has been subject to the revolving trial judge arrangements prevailing on that bench. On November 25, 1991, a hearing was held before then-sitting Judge Homer Wilkinson on Riverview's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 407.) Judge Wilkinson denied summary judgment on Power's claim of an implied-in-fact contract. (R. at 408.)

Before an order was entered, Riverview filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the court's denial of summary judgment on the implied-in-fact contract issue. (R. at 409-424.) Power opposed reconsideration. (R. at 425-429.) On February 19, 1992, Judge Wilkinson, having considered Riverview's Motion for Reconsideration, entered a Minute Entry allowing the implied-in-fact contract claim to remain. (R. at 453.)

Between July 1, 1992 and December 31, 1992, the presiding trial judge was Frank G. Noel. On July 13, 1992, he entered a Scheduling Order setting jury trial for November 10 through 12, 1992. (R. at 496.) On August 11, 1992, Riverview

filed a Motion in Limine seeking to preclude evidence at trial of Riverview's specific promises of fairness and Riverview's stated discipline policy. (R. at 500-526.) Riverview claimed these statements and standards were irrelevant to the jury question of whether it had abandoned or waived the at-will presumption. Yet, this was the very evidence on which Judge Wilkinson relied in denying Riverview summary judgment (and reconsideration) on the implied-in-fact employment contract issue.

Power opposed the Motion in Limine, again with extensive citation to the depositions, documents and affidavits supporting a "for cause" employment agreement and the right to notice of concerns and an opportunity to remediate before termination. (R. at 544-595.) Judge Noel denied the Motion in Limine (R. at 709) specifically finding that Power's evidence of an implied-in-fact contract was sufficient to require jury consideration, and citing to Judge Wilkinson's earlier decisions on the matter. (See Judge Noel's November 20, 1992, Minute Entry at Addendum.)

While Riverview's Motion in Limine was pending, a scheduling conflict arose on the Court's calendar. By Minute Entry dated November 10, 1992, Judge Noel moved the trial to December 15, 1992, in place of the trial scheduled in the companion case of Joe Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies (District

Court Case No. 10756; now pending on appeal in this Court as Case No. 930635-CA). (R. at 705.) The parties proceeded to trial on December 15th, selected a jury, presented opening statements, started Power's direct testimony, and screened Riverview's training video "What We Stand For." Unfortunately, on the morning of the second day of trial, a difficulty arose with one of the jurors who first claimed economic hardship from jury duty, and then claimed that he had made up his mind and could not hear the rest of the trial fairly. It was eventually determined that the juror was intoxicated and could no longer participate in the proceedings. The parties were unable to agree on how to proceed with just seven jurors, and so a mistrial was ordered. Judge Noel rescheduled trial for March 23, 1993.

On January 1, 1993, Judge David S. Young took the Summit County District Court bench. On January 15, 1993, he signed a Minute Entry confirming the trial date of March 23, 1993 (R. at 807), but on February 26, 1993, he postponed the trial to April 15, 1993. (R. at 811.)

On March 1, 1993, Riverview filed a Motion for Relief From [Judge Wilkinson's] Order which had denied summary judgment on Power's claim of an implied-in-fact employment contract. (R. at 812-813.) In support of its Motion for Relief (f/k/a a "motion to reconsider"), Riverview cited the publication of two

Utah Supreme Court opinions as the basis for reconsideration. No new facts were offered in support of the Motion for Relief. In fact, Riverview's 122-page supporting memorandum consisted principally of copies of its legal memorandums supporting prior motions. Power objected to the Motion for Relief both on the merits and on the propriety of a district court judge overruling the "law of the case" as established by another district court judge. (R. at 938-943.)

Judge Young heard the motion on March 18, 1993 (R. at 1091-1132, copy of transcript in Addendum). The hearing was in Judge Young's Third District courtroom in Salt Lake City without benefit of the file, which was in the Clerk's Office in Coalville, Summit County. Judge Young granted the Motion to Reconsider that same day. In his Memorandum Decision Judge Young usurped the jury's function by concluding that "[i]n the instant case, reasonable minds cannot differ as to the fact that the evidence was not strong enough to overcome the presumption that an "at will" relationship continued and that the company had done nothing to change the "at-will" relationship with this plaintiff. All assurances remained consistent with the "at-will" status and when it became necessary to reduce employees, the plaintiff was let go for that reason alone." (R. at 983-984, emphasis supplied.)

An Order granting Riverview summary judgment on the claim for breach of an implied-in-fact employment contract was entered on May 25, 1993. (R. at 986-988, copy in Addendum.) In the Order, Judge Young reiterated his conclusion that "the undisputed facts establish as a matter of law that Plaintiff's employment relationship with Defendant was 'at-will' and that, regardless, Defendant terminated Plaintiff 'for cause' as part of a reduction-in-force." This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. In November 1988, Power quit her job, cancelled a job interview with another company and accepted employment with Riverview after having the policies of the company explained to her by E.G. Perry, the personal assistant and secretary to Debbi Fields. (See Amended Complaint at ¶ 3; Power Depo., p. 34, R. at 322-333.) Ms. Perry's introductory explanation was:

[I]t was a wonderful company to work for. That there would be many opportunities for advancement. That with my experience, I would go far with the company. I was given the company policy and procedures manuals that indicated that it was a fair company. That if you were a hard worker, conscientious worker, you would be there until you chose to terminate the employment.

(R. at 323.)

2. During Power's employment, Riverview's Policy and Procedures Manual contained the following words of limitation to the company's right to terminate employment at-will:

Philosophy. . . .

For example, no person should be terminated if he or she did not know, or should not have known, what was expected. . . .

If an employee, for some reason is not performing to expectations, you should verify that he/she understands what he/she must do to be performing successfully.

(Personnel Section 7.0 - Disciplinary Process - R. at 335.)

3. Personnel Section 7.0 also describes as General

Rules:

DID THE EMPLOYEE KNOW OR SHOULD HE/SHE HAVE KNOWN OF THE DISCIPLINARY CONSEQUENCES OF HIS/HER CONDUCT? . . .

A trivial offense does not merit harsh discipline unless the employee was guilty of the same or similar offense a number of times in the past.

(R. at 336, emphasis in original.)

4. Personnel Section 7.0 enumerates "Violations that are Grounds for Immediate Termination." (R. at 338-339.) All of the listed grounds for termination involve misfeasance on the part of the employee. Power was not terminated for any misfeasance.

5. During Power's employment, she saw the video film "What We Stand For", in which Riverview founders and principal officers Randy and Debbi Fields declare the overriding philosophy of the company. Debbi Fields says, "The fourth component: fair treatment of all--this is part of our foundation." And then Randy Fields explains what this principle means:

We mean to treat people fairly. . . . Treat somebody that reports to you exactly the way you would want to be treated. Let me give you an example of what's not fair. Let's suppose you have somebody that's not a good performer. . . . Here's what's not fair: not saying anything to them, then scheduling them out of the company. . . . That's not fair. Let me tell you what else is not fair. Without warning, you walk in for some relatively minor infraction of the rules and firing them. They never knew that they were doing something wrong--they had no communication on the subject whatsoever. That's not fair. . . .

On the other hand, you understand that it is perfectly fair to fire someone? There is a fair way to do that? Absolutely a fair way to do that. And what we mean by fair is in some sense a communication issue. . . . "Hold accountable" means something really simple. That once I've instructed you as to how you are to be or to behave . . . and once you have got that and demonstrated that you understand it, then my expectation is that that's how it will be, and failure to do that results in discipline and ultimately continued failure to do it results in leaving the job at our request. That's a polite way of describing being fired. (Randy Fields, Transcript - "What We Stand For," pp. 14-15.)

Debbi Fields corroborates Randy's explanation:

I want to make sure that people are treated fairly. That this company represents a code of ethics and that we will work to make sure that everybody in this organization is told how to be better, how to be more effective. . We're not perfect. . . . I'm going to make mistakes. So I always need correction or need direction and if I need it, I can guarantee you'll need it. (Debbi Fields, Transcript -"What We Stand For", pp. 16-17).

(R. at 298-299.)

6. In April 1989, Power was promoted to the Position of Administrative Assistant to Paul Baird, Director of Operations. (R. at 299.)

7. While Power was his Administrative Assistant, Paul Baird terminated several employees. In every termination of which Power was aware, each employee received a written Performance Improvement Plan, and was then given a chance to correct that performance. (Power Depo., p. 71, R. at 330.)

8. Baird recommended and gave Power a 10% Bonus because her performance exceeded expectations in the third quarter of 1989, her first full quarter as his Administrative Assistant. (Baird Depo., p. 65, R. at 345; and Performance Evaluation -3rd Qtr., R. at 353.)

9. In the fourth quarter of 1989, Baird told Power she was going to be elevated to management of Riverview's \$15 million Mail Order operation. (Power Depo., p. 158, R. at 333.) This

plan was announced at the November 1989 "Top Gun" meeting in Park City. Id.

10. Then, on January 8, 1990, Baird terminated Power without warning, claiming at the termination interview that her performance had "dramatically fallen off." Baird did so without previously informing Power of her alleged lack of performance, or determining that she knew what was expected of her, and then giving her a chance to improve her performance. (Baird Depo., p. 71, R. at 347; Performance Evaluation - 4th Qtr., R. at 358-359; Power's January 19, 1990, letter to Debbi Fields, R. at 367, et seq.)

11. In spite of Riverview's written standards for disciplinary due process; and in direct contradiction to Riverview's stated company principle of fairness which prohibits "not saying anything to [a poor performer], then scheduling them out of the company;" Baird terminated Power (or supposedly her position) because of poor performance which he never discussed with her before termination: "This lack of performance resulted in the position being eliminated on 12/31/89." (Performance Evaluation - 4th Qtr., R. at 359.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: THERE WAS NO JUSTIFICATION FOR JUDGE YOUNG TO GRANT RELIEF FROM THE LAW OF THIS CASE.

Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rule of Civil Procedure, should be applied only in unusual or exceptional circumstances. Because Riverview did not introduce any new evidence and the cases cited by Riverview as support for its Motion did not change implied-in-fact employment contract law, Judge Young was not justified in "vacating" Judge Wilkinson's prior determination and entering summary judgment in its place. (R. at 986-988.)

POINT II: THE EXISTENCE OF AN IMPLIED-IN-FACT EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT IS A FACT QUESTION FOR THE JURY.

The question of whether the at-will employment presumption has been overcome is a question of fact reserved for the jury. The two cases cited by Riverview as justification for its motion, Hodgson v. Bunzl Utah, Inc., 844 P.2d 331 (Utah 1992) and Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing, 844 P.2d 303 (Utah 1992), do not change the requirement that courts should interpret employment contracts by harmonizing the overall meaning of the contract within the totality of the employment circumstances.

Power has alleged facts, which if true, would establish her reasonable expectation that her employment was not at-will. Riverview has not and cannot deny the existence of Power's evidence. Judge Young concluded in his Memorandum Decision that

Riverview "had done nothing to change the 'at-will' relationship" with Power. (R. at 984.) This conclusion simply is not correct, and it improperly invades the province of the jury.

POINT III: WHETHER THERE WAS A REDUCTION-IN-FORCE IS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

Riverview claims that the reduction-in-force was its "cause" to terminate Power. Power claims that this was a pretext which is not borne out by the facts and which is inconsistent with Riverview's other conduct and representations. But even if Riverview did have a legitimate reduction-in-force, Riverview's Director of Operations, Paul Baird, admitted that elimination of Power's job was inextricably linked to performance concerns. (R. at 359.) And it is undisputed that Riverview failed to fulfill Randy Field's pledge to apprise Power of performance problems, provide corrective instruction, and allow an opportunity for improvement before "scheduling" Power out of the company. These disputed factual issues are jury questions. Judge Young erred by focusing solely on Riverview's evidence and treating Riverview's invocation of reduction-in-force as per se cause, without evaluating the underlying circumstances and the overall context of the employment relationship.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO JUSTIFICATION FOR JUDGE YOUNG TO GRANT RELIEF FROM THE LAW OF THIS CASE

Riverview relied on Rule 60(b)(7), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for its Motion for Relief from [Judge Wilkinson's] Order. (R. at 812.) The Supreme Court of Utah follows the admonition that Rule 60(b)(7) "should be very cautiously and sparingly invoked by the Court only in unusual and exceptional circumstances." Laub v. South Cent. Utah Tel. Ass'n, 657 P.2d 1304, 1307-1308 (Utah 1982) (quoting Hughes v. Sanders, 287 F. Supp. 332, 334 (E.D. Okla. 1968); See Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co. v. D.T. Southern Properties, 838 P.2d 672, 674 (Utah App. 1992)). This is not such a case.

In order to obtain relief from Judge Wilkinson's two prior denials of summary judgment on the implied-in-facts employment contract issues, Riverview had to show unusual and exceptional circumstances. Laub, 657 P.2d at 1306; Lincoln Benefit, 838 P.2d at 674. Yet, there was nothing extraordinary for Judge Young to consider. In its Memorandum supporting reconsideration, Riverview simply deferred to its prior pleadings: "Rather than rehashing those facts, however, and in the interest of judicial economy, defendant simply refers the Court to the facts and analysis" in its memorandums supporting

motion for summary judgment. (R. at 816-817.) Riverview's motion was nothing more than an attempt for a third bite of the apple -- an attempt motivated by what Judge Young admitted was "the undesirable nature of the master calendar system now followed in Summit County where the Judge will change as the assignment changes." (R. at 982.)

The two new cases cited by Riverview to Judge Young did not justify the relief he granted. Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing, 844 P.2d 303 (Utah 1992) and Hodgson v. Bunzl Utah, Inc., 844 P.2d 331 (Utah 1992) did not change the implied-in-fact employment contract analysis. If anything, Sanderson and Hodgson bolstered Judge Wilkinson's ruling that a reasonable jury could find that Riverview breached its implied-in-fact contract with Power, so the case could not be disposed of on summary judgment.

Finally, Judge Young's Memorandum Decision was issued in Salt Lake City on the same day as oral argument and without benefit of the file which was in the Summit County Court Clerk's Office in Coalville. (R. at 1093.) Judge Young's only reference to Power's evidence was a summary of the extemporaneous review given by her counsel during oral argument in response to the trial court's inquiry. In reaching its conclusion the Court virtually ignored the voluminous record evidence of "for cause" employment drawn from documentary, video, oral, and

course-of-dealing sources. (R. at 68-73; and 295-316 with supporting evidence at 322-378.) Thus, not only did Judge Young grant the Motion to Reconsider without adequate demonstration of unusual and exceptional circumstances, he impermissibly reversed the law of the case by vacating Judge Wilkinson's prior decisions, disregarding Judge Noel's important ruling on Riverview's Motion in Limine (R. at 709, see Addendum), and entered summary judgment without giving Power's evidence the liberal inferences to which it is entitled. Berube v. Fashion Center, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1039 (Utah 1989).

POINT II

THE EXISTENCE OF AN IMPLIED-IN-FACT EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT IS A FACT QUESTION FOR THE JURY

The existence of an implied-in-fact contract "is a question of fact which turns on the objective manifestations of the parties' intent. As a question of fact, the intent of the parties is primarily a jury question." Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 818 P.2d 997, 1001 (Utah 1991). Neither Hodgson nor Sanderson change the requirement that courts should interpret employment contract terms by harmonizing the overall meaning of the contract. Judge Wilkinson's denial of summary judgment reflects his understanding of that point.

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