1993

Mariamercedes Power v. Riverview Financial Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court must affirm the trial court in all respects. First, Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993), makes it clear that the trial court acted correctly when it reconsidered its previous decision denying Riverview summary judgment on Power's implied-in-fact contract claim. Second, because no reasonable jury could have found that Power had overcome the presumption of at-will employment, the trial court also acted correctly when it granted Riverview summary judgment on that claim; alternatively, summary judgment was appropriate because the undisputed facts establish that Riverview terminated Power for good cause in a reduction in force.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court's Reconsideration of its Prior Decision Denying Riverview Summary Judgment on Power's Claim for Breach of an Implied "For-Cause" Employment Contract Was Entirely Appropriate.

Power argues that Riverview relied upon Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(7) in bringing its Motion for Relief from Order, that "Riverview had to show unusual and exceptional circumstances" to prevail on that motion, and that Riverview presented "nothing extraordinary for . . . [the trial court] to consider." Brief of Appellant at 15. Power's analysis of this issue is wrong.

"Any judge is free to change his or her mind on the outcome of a case until a decision is formally rendered." Bennion v. Hansen, 699 P.2d 757, 760 (Utah 1985). Timm, 851 P.2d 1178, is directly on-point. There, defendant, Althea Dewsnup, appealed the trial

court's denial of several motions including one to reconsider a summary judgment. Id. at 1179. "The trial court denied Mrs. Dewsnap's motion to reconsider the summary judgment, stating that 'no such motion exists under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.'" Id. at 1184. The Utah Supreme Court reversed and ordered "the trial court to address the motion on its merits" holding "that pursuant to the provisions of rule 54(b), because the summary judgment was 'subject to revision,'³ a motion to reconsider is a reasonable means of requesting such a revision and is therefore permitted." Id. at 1185. See also Kennedy v. New Era Indus., Inc., 600 P.2d 534, 536-37 (Utah 1979); Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, 761 P.2d 42, 44-45 (Utah App. 1988).

Here, as in Timm, Riverview asked the trial court to reconsider its disposition of a summary judgment that was "subject to revision."⁴ The trial court granted Riverview's request; the trial court would have erred if it had not done so. There it stands.

Alternatively, even if the trial court did err in reconsidering the summary judgment, a remand for this reason would be inappropriate under the harmless error standard. Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is controlling; it provides in pertinent part:

³ A summary "judgment is 'subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties'" unless certified as a final judgment. Timm, 851 P.2d at 1184 (quoting Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b)).

⁴ That Riverview's request for reconsideration was styled *Defendant's Motion for Relief from Order* and originally brought pursuant to rule 60(b) is of no consequence. First, the motion was properly brought under that rule. See Rees v. Albertson's, Inc., 587 P.2d 130, 131-32 (Utah 1978) (use of 60(b) as a mechanism for reconsidering denial of summary judgment upheld). Second, regardless, both Power and the trial court treated Riverview's motion as one for reconsideration. R. at 942, 955 & 983-84.

[N]o error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for . . . disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

An error substantially affects the rights of a party when "there is reasonable likelihood that in its absence there would have been a different result." Joseph v. W.H. Groves Latter-Day Saints Hospital, 348 P.2d 935 (Utah 1960). In light of the trial court's ruling that, as a matter of law, Power could not make out a claim for breach of an implied "for-cause" employment contract, there was no such error here for the result—dismissal of Power's claim—would have been the same except that all of the parties would have unnecessarily spent thousands of additional dollars in litigation costs.

II. The Trial Court Properly Granted Riverview Summary Judgment on Power's Claim for Breach of an Implied "For-Cause" Employment Contract.

Power next argues that she introduced sufficient "evidence of Riverview's intent and Power's reasonable expectation of 'for cause' contract terms" to avoid summary judgment.⁵ Brief of Appellant at 20. Power's position is without merit.

⁵ Power, in the opening of her brief, phrases the issue at hand in terms of whether she had an implied-in-fact employment contract "whereby she could only be terminated for cause, after disciplinary counseling, and an opportunity to correct deficiencies." Brief of Appellant at 1-2. That is an incorrect statement of the issue. A correct statement is: Whether Power had an implied-in-fact employment contract whereby she could only be terminated "for cause"? To this end, Riverview notes (1) that Power's claim in her complaint for breach of an implied employment contract centers on whether "she was a 'for cause' employee;" (2) that Power is only appealing the trial court's decision granting Riverview summary judgment on her implied "for-cause" employment contract claim and (3) that Power's docketing statement (tab "F") defines the issue presented on appeal in terms of the "for-cause" standard. R. at 2 & 989.

A. Power Is Bound by the Provisions in the Riverview Employment Application and Handbooks Stating that Employment is Terminable At Will.

Utah law presumes that employment for "no specified term of duration" is at will. Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Utah 1989) (Durham, J , joined by Stewart, J.); see also id. at 1051 (Zimmerman, J., concurring in the result). An employee may overcome this presumption by proving the existence of an implied agreement with his or her employer to terminate the employment relationship only "for cause". Id. at 1044 & 1051. An implied agreement to terminate "for cause", however, cannot contradict an express contractual provision providing for employment at will. See Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 818 P.2d 997, 1004 (Utah 1991) (citing Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49, 55 (Utah 1991)); Berube, 771 P.2d at 1044.

Here, Power and Riverview expressly memorialized in the Application for Employment Power signed when she began working for Riverview their understanding that Power's employment with Riverview was at will. Power's application reads:

All employees of the Company are "at-will" employees subject to termination at anytime with or without cause.

* * *

Further, I understand and agree that my employment is for no definite period and may, regardless of the date of payment of my wages and salary, be terminated without any previous notice.

Fact ¶ 2. Power and Riverview then expressly reaffirmed this understanding in the Acknowledgment Power signed in June of 1989:

The Company reserves the right to transfer, promote, demote, or terminate me with or without cause at any time. With or without notice; and I reserve the right to resign at any time with or without notice.

II. HANDBOOK

Today I received a copy of The Company's Employee Handbook which has been prepared to give me some general information about company policy. I understand that neither this Handbook nor any other representation by a management official of The Company are intended to create a contract of employment. I understand that The Company and I have the same right to end my employment at any time for any reason.

Fact ¶ 6.⁶ Additionally, Riverview also unequivocally disclaimed in its Policy and Procedures Manual and Employee Handbook any intent to fetter its right to discharge employees at will. See Fact ¶¶ 2-3. Evidence of express recognition of at-will status by both employer and employee just does not get any better than Power's signed application and Acknowledgment and Riverview's disclaimers.

Because the law bars the consideration of implied contractual terms that are inconsistent with express contractual terms where, as here, the express terms are laid out in a signed employment application or acknowledgment or in clear and conspicuous disclaimers, the trial court properly entered summary judgment. See Hodgson, 844 P.2d at 334 ("when an employee handbook contains a clear and conspicuous disclaimer of contractual liability, any

⁶ Power disputes that she acknowledged her at-will status by signing this one-page form as she "did not stop and think and analyze specific sentences." Brief of Appellant at 22. Power's assertion is irrelevant. It is an elementary principle of contract jurisprudence that parties cannot avoid the consequences of what they have signed by later claiming that they did not read or understand it. See Lewis v. Penthouse Intern. Ltd., 825 F. Supp. 131, 133 (S.D. Texas 1992).

other agreement terms must be construed in light of the disclaimer"); Basich v. Target Stores, Inc., 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16336, *7 (Or. 1992) (disclaimer prevented "as a matter of law, the formation of an implied contract"); Bykonen v. United Hospital, 479 N.W.2d 140, 142 (N.D. 1992) ("presence of a clear and conspicuous disclaimer in the employee handbook" preserved the presumption of at-will employment); Johnson, 818 P.2d at 1003 ("We also note that a number of jurisdictions have held that a clear and conspicuous disclaimer, as a matter of law, prevents employee manuals or other like material from being considered as implied-in-fact contract terms"); Schloz v. Montgomery Ward & Co., Inc., 468 N.W.2d 845, 849 (Mich. 1991) (signed acknowledgment of at-will status prevented enforcement of contrary implied contract); Grimes v. Allied Stores Corp., 768 P.2d 528, 528-29 (Wash. App. 1989) (employee's "specific agreement in her application preempt[ed] the arguably inconsistent policy manual"); Reid v. Sears, Roebuck and Co., 790 F.2d 453, 460-62 (6th Cir. 1986) (at-will provision in employment application constituted express contract barring any contrary implied contract).

B. Power Had No More than a Mere Subjective Expectancy that She Would Be Terminated Only "For Cause".

Even if Power had not agreed to an express term of employment at will, Riverview would still be entitled to summary judgment for two independent reasons. First, no reasonable jury could conclude that Power and Riverview ever settled upon an implied "for-cause" agreement restricting the company's right to discharge Power. And "if the evidence presented is such that no reasonable jury could conclude that the parties agreed to limit the employer's

right to terminate the employee, it is appropriate for a court to decide the issue as a matter of law." Johnson, 818 P.2d at 1001.

In order for an implied "for-cause" term to exist, "it must meet the requirements for an offer of a unilateral contract." Johnson, 818 P.2d at 1002. Accordingly, there must be an objective "manifestation of the employer's intent that is communicated to the employee and sufficiently definite to operate as a contract provision. Furthermore, the manifestation . . . must be of such a nature that the employee can reasonably believe that the employer is making an offer of employment other than employment at will." Id. A subjective expectation of "for-cause" employment does not create an enforceable contractual obligation. See Duncan v. Rolm-Spec Computers, 917 F.2d 261, 265 (6th Cir. 1990) (quoting Sepanske v. Bendix Corp., 384 N.W.2d 54, 58 (Mich App. 1985)).

The facts of this case do not raise a triable issue as to the existence of an implied "for-cause" employment contract. (A) Power's employment application distinctly states in two separate places that the employment is at will and that an employee may be terminated at any time with or without notice. See Fact ¶ 2. (B) Riverview's Policy and Procedures Manual affirms the at-will nature of employment with Riverview. For example, the Policy and Procedures Manual provides:

In addition, the Company reserves the right to terminate any employee at will.

* * *

At THE COMPANY all employees are "at-will" employees subject to termination at any time with or without cause.

Fact ¶ 3. (C) Riverview's Employee Handbook insists upon the employee's at-will status in even greater detail. It provides, by way of example, that:

The Company is an "at-will" employer which means that any and all team members are subject to termination at anytime with or without cause. Although we generally will follow a disciplinary process because we are an at-will employer, The Company reserves the right to terminate a team member immediately.

* * *

Every employee is free to terminate his or her employment at any time, with or without cause.

* * *

Likewise, The Company is free to terminate an employee's employment at any time with or without cause.

Fact ¶ 4.⁷ (D) Finally, Power's signed Acknowledgment presents an unassailable, written testament of her understanding of the at-will nature of her employment relationship with Riverview. See Fact ¶ 6.

No reasonable jury assessing these facts could conclude that Power reasonably believed that Riverview had offered her an implied-in-fact employment contract to be discharged only "for cause". Consequently, summary judgment was appropriate. See Hodgson, 844 P.2d at 332-34 (despite statement by employer's manager to employee during preemployment interview that employer "followed disciplinary procedures to give employees a

⁷ Notwithstanding the explicit statements in the Policy and Procedures Manual and the Employee Handbook to the contrary, Power asks this court to indelibly cast the disciplinary policy as an inviolate procedure and to ignore the plain language that delineates the policy as only a guideline that is not to be construed as a contract of employment, promise of specific treatment, or limitation on Riverview's right to discharge at will. See Fact ¶¶ 3-4.

chance to correct deficiencies," employee "could not have reasonably concluded that employment was other than at will" given disclaimers and fact that employee signed a "'New Employee Checklist' which stated that employment was at will"); Johnson, 818 P.2d at 1003 ("the only reasonable conclusion an employee or a juror could reach" given handbook's disclaimer is that employer "intended to retain the right to discharge for any reason"); Duncan, 917 F.2d 263-65 (in light of signed employment application specifying that employment was at will, statement by manager that employee "would never be terminated" as long as he "maintained his sales and met his quota each year" and existence of written performance improvement plan did not provide employee with "a reasonable basis for concluding that he would be terminated only for just cause"); Vollrath v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 899 F.2d 533, 535 (6th Cir. 1990) (because company had issued disclaimer providing for at-will employment, employee could not have reasonably relied upon statements by plant manager that employee "would continue in employment as long as he continued to do his job"); De Horney v. Bank of America, 879 F.2d 459, 466 (9th Cir. 1989) (employee could not have reasonably relied upon personnel policies promising "all employees fair treatment" in light of express acknowledgement of at-will status);⁸ Shapiro v. Wells Fargo Realty, 152 Cal.

⁸ Courts have had little trouble in rejecting the generalized assertions of job security and fairness on which Power relies as objective manifestations of an employer's intent to create an implied "for-cause" employment contract upon which an employee could reasonably rely. See, e.g., Evans, 857 P.2d at 977 ("assurances of long-term employment" are "inadequate to create an implied contract" to terminate "for cause"); Fleming v. AT & T Information Services, Inc., 878 F.2d 1472, 1474 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (statement in employer's documents promising "fair and consistent treatment" deemed irrelevant); Ellis v. El Paso Natural Gas Co., 754 F.2d 884, 886 (10th Cir. 1985) (statement in employer's personnel manual promising that "the company 'will sever the employment relationship in a fair and consistent manner' and 'will establish a fair and consistent method' to resolve employee disputes relating to employment'" too indefinite to form an implied contract).

App. 3d 467, 482 (Cal. App. 1984) (employee "could not have reasonably relied on any implied promise . . . which contradicted" the at-will provision contained in signed stock option agreement).

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